STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County

Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DINAL WAYNE KEITH,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-001088

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

AUG 06 2018

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Whether the trial court erred in admitting Appellant's statements where the advice of rights form he was provided included language "we have no way of appointing you a lawyer" and where Appellant was instructed that his signature on the form indicated only his understanding of his rights and did not specify that it constituted a waiver of rights?

II.

Whether the trial court erred in admitting testimony from confidential informant Sullivan and former co-defendant, turned State's witness, Brandon regarding alleged other drug activity involving Appellant where such testimony constituted improper Lyle evidence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 9, 2017, the York County Grand Jury returned indictments against Appellant Dinal Keith for possession with intent to distribute (“PWID”) buprenorphine and trafficking hydrocodone. R. 457 – 460.

On April 24-27, 2017, Keith appeared for trial before the Honorable J. Derham Cole and a jury. Keith was represented by Mindy Lipinski, and the State was represented by assistant solicitor Blaine Fleming. R. 1. The jury convicted Keith of both offenses. R. 451, ll. 12-25. Judge Cole imposed a sentence of twenty-five years imprisonment and a one-hundred thousand dollar fine for the trafficking offense and a concurrent sentence of twenty years for the PWID offense. R. 454, l. 20 - 455, l. 6.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court erred in admitting Appellant's statements where the advice of rights form he was provided included language "we have no way of appointing you a lawyer" and where Appellant was instructed that his signature on the form indicated only his understanding of his rights and did not specify that it constituted a waiver of rights.

Relevant Facts

Brian "Sully" Sullivan was arrested and facing the service of warrants for various drug distribution offenses. In exchange for law enforcement's agreement to refrain from serving his warrants, also known as "holding the warrants," Sullivan began working as a confidential informant. His first target was Appellant Dinal "Denny" Keith. R. 183, ll. 1-5; R. 212, l. 7 – 214, l. 23; R. 226, l. 12 – 229, l. 13; R. 291, l. 5- 292, l. 11; R. 310, l. 4 – 311, l. 8; R. 335, ll. 3-25; R. 336, l. 18 – 338, l. 15. Sullivan alleged that from April 8 to 28, 2016, he made four undercover drug purchases from Keith and Keith's live-in girlfriend, Sherry Brandon, only two of which resulted in audible videos. R. 183, l. 9 – 191, l. 13; R. 201, l. 10 – 205, l. 22; R. 215, l. 23 – 223, l. 6; see State's Ex. 2 (Home Depot parking lot video, on file with this Court); State's Ex. 5 (living room video, on file with this Court). It was the April 28, 2016 "buy" that resulted in the charges against Keith and Brandon. R. 458; R. 560. The same day, the two were arrested during the execution of a search warrant upon their home and taken to the police station for questioning. R. 144, l. 2 – 152, l. 24; R. 299, l. 9 – 307, l. 12. In an effort to reduce her own criminal exposure, Brandon testified against Keith. R. 271, l. 9 – 272, l. 10; R. 282, l. 2 – 283, l. 10.

Following a pre-trial Denno¹ hearing, the trial court ruled that the prosecution could admit testimony regarding incriminating statements Keith allegedly made to officers investigating the case. R. 26 – 68. The “acknowledgment of rights” form signed by Keith and Brandon was published to the trial judge during the pre-trial hearing and admitted into evidence at trial. R. 30, l. 15 – 31, l. 11; R. 148, ll. 20-25; R. 456. The “constitutional rights” section of the form included the following:

You have the right to remain silent. Anything you say can be used against you in Court. You have the right to talk to a lawyer for advice before answering any questions and to have your lawyer present during questioning. **You have the right to the advice and presence of a lawyer even if you cannot afford to hire one. We have no way of appointing you a lawyer, but one will be appointed by the Court for you if you wish.** If you wish, you may answer questions without the presence of a lawyer and you may stop answering any time you desire.

R. 456 (emphasis added). Defense counsel argued that instructing an arrestee that you have the right to an attorney but that they have no way of appointing you one “eviscerates the defendant’s . . . Sixth Amendment right to counsel.” R. 67, ll. 5-24. The trial judge ruled, stating only: “All right. I find the statements to be freely and voluntarily made therefore the motion to exclude is denied.” R. 68, ll. 2-4.

The prosecution’s first witness, Lieutenant James Ligon, testified that Keith was seated on the couch in his living room when he was advised of his Miranda rights by investigator Gander. R. 146, ll. 3-19. Keith was not questioned until after he arrived at the police station, at which time he allegedly told the officers that “he was selling his scripts basically to live” and “to get by;” that “what he did was on him,” and “was his fault, nobody else’s;” and that the hydrocodone pills “were prescriptions that he had gotten from a doctor that had been prescribed.” R. 153, l. 13 – 154, l. 13. On cross-examination, Ligon explained that the arrestee is

¹ Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964).

not read the instructions at the top of the rights form, only the portions titled “constitutional rights” and “acknowledgement of rights.” R. 167, ll. 10-19; see also R. 307, ll. 1-12.

When Gander later testified, she further clarified that only the “constitutional rights” section is read aloud to the arrestee. They read the “acknowledgement” paragraph to themselves. She then “ask[s] them if they understood, if they had any questions and if they did understand if they could sign next to their name which [she] had asked them to sign after [she had] written it down.” R. 340, l. 5 – 342, l. 19. On cross-examination, Gander admitted that she never asked Keith if he could read or write. R. 356, l. 24 – 357, l. 23. Notably, the word waiver appears only once on the form signed by Keith, in the first paragraph that was never read to him and which he was never instructed to read to himself. R. 456. Even at trial, the word “waive” or “waiver” was scarcely used. R. 149, ll. 8-9; R. 168, ll. 19-20; R. 342, ll. 16-17.

Discussion

In Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 479, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 1630 (1966), the United States Supreme Court determined that the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments’ prohibition against compelled self-incrimination required that custodial interrogation be preceded by advice to the putative defendant that he has the right to remain silent and also the right to the presence of an attorney. A statement obtained as a result of custodial interrogation is inadmissible unless the suspect was advised of and voluntarily waived his rights under Miranda....” State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 30, 538 S.E.2d 248, 253 (2000).

In Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 376 (1964), the United States Supreme Court wrote: “It is now axiomatic that a defendant in a criminal case is deprived of due process of law if his conviction is founded, in whole or in part, upon an involuntary confession, without regard for the truth or falsity of the confession, and even though there is ample evidence aside from the

confession to support the conviction.” Accordingly, a defendant has the right to object to the use of the confession and to have an independent hearing and a reliable determination on the issue of voluntariness. Id. at 376-77; State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 382, 652 S.E.2d 444, 450 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing State v. Fortner, 266 S.C. 223, 226, 222 S.E.2d 508, 510 (1976)).

In South Carolina, the judge makes this initial determination of voluntariness required by Denno. 375 S.C. at 382, 652 S.E.2d at 450. In the initial phase of review by the trial judge, if a defendant was advised of his Miranda rights, but chose to make a statement anyway, the “burden is on the State to prove *by a preponderance of the evidence* that his rights were voluntarily waived.” State v. Washington, 296 S.C. 54, 55, 370 S.E.2d 611, 612 (1988) (emphasis in original). The State bears this burden of proof even where a defendant has signed a waiver of rights form. State v. Goolsby, 275 S.C. 110, 268 S.E.2d 31 (1980).

The United States Supreme Court has articulated two dimensions to the waiver inquiry: (1) “waiver must be voluntary in the sense that it was the product of a free and deliberate choice rather than intimidation, coercion, or deception,” and (2) “made with a full awareness of both the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it.” Berghuis v. Thompkins, 560 U.S. 370, 382-83 (2010)). “Only if the totality of the circumstances surrounding the interrogation reveal both an uncoerced choice and the requisite level of comprehension may a court properly conclude that the Miranda rights have been waived.” Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 421 (1986).

Here, the most glaring problem is the fact that the document presented to Keith provides no indication that his signature constituted a waiver of rights. Rather, the “acknowledgement” paragraph provides only: “I have read or had read to me the statement of my rights shown above. I understand what my rights are and know what I am doing. I know that the person(s) talking

with me is/are a police officer(s) and I understand what he/she is talking about.” R. 456. Thus, there is no evidence that Keith voluntarily waived his rights under Miranda.

Further, “[c]ourts have recognized a number of circumstances under which the police can impermissibly undermine the meaning or significance of the Miranda warnings and fail to reasonably convey their meaning, thus negating the validity of a suspect’s waiver of his *Miranda* rights.” State v. Meyer, 362 P.3d 745, 752 (Wash. 2015). Courts have held confessions inadmissible, for instance, in cases where the police downplay the relevance of the warnings and their application to the current questioning. See Doody v. Schriro, 548 F.3d 847, 862-63 (9th Cir.2008) (Doody I). Giving “different and conflicting sets of warnings” also renders a suspect’s Miranda waiver invalid if, as a result of the conflicting instructions, the meaning of the warnings becomes unclear. See United States v. San Juan-Cruz, 314 F.3d 384, 387-88 (9th Cir.2002); United States v. Connell, 869 F.2d 1349, 1352 (9th Cir.1989) (“We reject as fatally flawed ... a version of the Miranda litany if the combination or wording of its warnings is in some way affirmatively misleading....”).

The Miranda Court explained:

In order fully to apprise a person interrogated of the extent of his rights under this system then, it is necessary to warn him not only that he has the right to consult with an attorney, but also that if he is indigent a lawyer will be appointed to represent him. Without this additional warning, the admonition of the right to consult with counsel would often be understood as meaning only that he can consult with a lawyer if he has one or has the funds to obtain one. The warning of a right to counsel would be hollow if not couched in terms that would convey to the indigent—the person most often subjected to interrogation—the knowledge that he too has a right to have counsel present. As with the warnings of the right to remain silent and of the general right to counsel, **only by effective and express explanation to the indigent of this right can there be assurance that he was truly in a position to exercise it.**

384 U.S. at 473 (emphasis added). Here, the statements that an arrestee has the right to an attorney, that there is no way of appointing him one, but that the Court can appoint him one, are exceedingly confusing. This is especially so where, as here, the rights are read at a private residence nowhere near a court.

The trial judge erred in admitting Keith's statements to police where his Miranda warnings were confusing and diluted and where the State did not prove that his rights were validly waived. Keith is accordingly entitled to a new trial.

II.

The trial court erred in admitting testimony from confidential informant Sullivan and former co-defendant, turned State's witness, Brandon regarding alleged other drug activity involving Appellant where such testimony constituted improper Lyle evidence.

Relevant Facts

In addition to evidence related to the charged offenses alleged to have been committed on April 28, 2016, the trial court allowed the prosecution to admit evidence of the prior alleged undercover purchases made by Brian Sullivan, text messages related to alleged drug sales to other individuals orchestrated by Sherry Brandon on Keith's behalf; and general testimony from both Sullivan regarding alleged prior drug purchases that he made from Keith and Brandon. R. 68, l. 6 – 101, l. 3; R. 103, l. 13 – 113, l. 15; State's Ex. 3-4, 9, and 12-17 (photographs of text messages, on file with this Court); State's Ex. 2 (Home Depot parking lot video, on file with this Court). The only thing that the trial court excluded was evidence of Keith's prior drug conviction, which he determined was too remote and constituted propensity evidence. R. 110, ll. 4-13. Other than the other undercover purchases alleged by Sullivan, he could provide no specifics regarding the date, time, price, or type of drug he purportedly purchased from Keith over the course of the year prior to the charged offenses. R. 85, l. 20 – 86, l. 16; R. 88, l. 5 – 89, l. 4.

Defense counsel argued that the remainder of the proffered evidence had not been established by clear and convincing evidence, that there was no factual connection between the prior conduct and the charged conduct, and that the probative value was outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. She further noted that the drugs alleged to have been purchased in the past were not limited to the two drugs that were the subject of the indictments, buprenorphine and hydrocodone. R. 16, l. 21 – 18, l. 6; R. 104, l. 3 – 108, l. 7. Defense counsel renewed her

objections repeatedly as evidence of Keith's alleged other crimes, wrongs, or acts were offered into evidence. R. 179, ll. 17-24; R. 190, ll. 1-18; R. 192, l. 15 – 197, l. 4; R. 237, l. 4 – 239, l. 23; R. 248, ll. 1-5; R. 256, l. 4 – 287, l. 12; R. 380, ll. 17-19.

Discussion

The South Carolina Rules of Evidence and case law preclude the introduction of evidence of a defendant's other crimes, wrongs, or acts to prove the defendant's guilt for the crime charged except to establish (1) motive, (2) identity, (3) a common scheme or plan, (4) the absence of mistake or accident, or (5) intent. Rule 404(b), SCRE; State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). In order to introduce evidence of some other act by the defendant under one of the exceptions, the prosecutor must lay a proper foundation. State v. Smith, 391 S.C. 353, 361, 705 S.E.2d 491,495 (2011). At the outset, the prosecutor must prove by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant committed the other act, if the defendant was not convicted of the act. Id. (citing State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 23, 664 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2008)). Next, the prosecutor must articulate the logical connection between the other act and one of the five exceptions listed in Rule 404(b), SCRE. Id. (citing State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 211, 631 S.E.2d 262, 267 (2006)). This requires a showing of how the evidence of the other act will assist the fact-finder in understanding a material issue in the case related to one of the Rule 404(b), SCRE, exceptions. Id. If the trial judge determines the prosecutor has satisfied both requirements, then the judge must determine whether the probative value outweighs the prejudicial effect pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE. Id. (citing State v. Stokes, 381 S.C. 390, 404, 673 S.E.2d 434, 441 (2009)).

In State v. Campbell, 317 S.C. 449, 450, 454 S.E.2d 899, 900 (Ct. App. 1994), police informant Timothy Bellamy testified about drug purchases he made from Campbell prior to the

night that resulted in the charged offense of distribution of crack cocaine. This Court reversed Campbell's conviction, ruling that "[b]y introducing the prior bad acts, the State was not trying to prove a common scheme but to convince the jury that because Campbell sold crack cocaine in the past, he was selling crack cocaine on this occasion. This is precisely the type of inference that Lyle prohibits." 317 S.C. at 451; 454 S.E.2d at 901. This Court further ruled that even if testimony of the prior drugs sales were admissible under the common plan or scheme exception, the prejudicial value of the testimony outweighed the probative value. Id. The Campbell Court noted that "[w]hen the prior bad acts are 'strikingly similar to the one for which the appellant is being tried, the danger of prejudice is enhanced.'" Id. (quoting State v. Gore, 283 S.C. 118, 121, 322 S.E.2d 12, 13 (1984)).

Similarly, in State v. Carter, 323 S.C. 465, 468, 476 S.E.2d 916, 918 (Ct. App. 1996), this Court ruled that evidence of a prior drug transaction that occurred on January 14th, four days before the informant made the second buy on January 18th, had "no legal connection . . . sufficient to come within the framework of the common scheme or plan exception." Rather, "the purpose of the State's use of the evidence appears similar to that articulated by this Court in Campbell in that the State was not trying to prove a common scheme or plan, but was instead trying to convince the jury that because Carter sold crack cocaine to Stamps on January 14th, he was selling crack cocaine on January 18th." 323 S.C. at 468, 476 S.E.2d at 918. This Court again ruled that "[t]his is the precise type of inference prohibited by Lyle." Id.; see also State v. Barroso, 328 S.C. 268, 493 S.E.2d 854 (1997) (reversing co-defendants' convictions for trafficking cocaine where the State was permitted to introduce voluminous testimony of other bad acts, primarily concerning marijuana use and distribution).

Here, there was much more evidence presented regarding Keith's alleged past conduct than there was about the offenses for which he was being tried. Sullivan's testimony about the three prior undercover buys related to the sale of Suboxone strips, Dilaudid pills, and Xanax. These are separate drugs from the hydrocodone allegedly purchased on April 28th and the buprenorphine allegedly found on Keith's person during the subsequent execution of the search warrant. R. 183, l. 12 – 184, l. 24; R. 300, ll. 5-11; R. 301, ll. 1-15; R. 321, l. 5 – 322, l. 3. The text messages that were unrelated to the April 28th purchase were similarly too removed from the charged conduct to be admissible. State's Ex. 3-4, 9, and 12-17 (photographs of text messages, on file with this Court). Sullivan's general testimony that he bought other pills from Keith and Brandon at their house, with no specifics, was not proven by clear and convincing evidence. R. 191, l. 18 – 192, l. 9. The text messages admitted through Brandon should not have been excluded because they did not relate to any transaction involving Sullivan or to the same drugs involved in the charged offenses. R. 256, l. 1 – 268, l. 13; see R. 237, l. 6 – 238, l. 18.

The State argued to the trial court that this evidence was necessary to prove conspiracy, but in its closing argument the prosecution argued that Keith was guilty of trafficking if he possessed the requisite amount, distributed the requisite amount, or conspired to sell the requisite amount. R. 111, l. 19 – 112, l. 5; R. 238, l. 21 – 239, l. 16; R. 388, l. 19 – 389, l. 15; R. 391, ll. 8-17. The reality is that the purpose of the evidence was to convince the jury that because Keith purportedly sold drugs to Sullivan in the past, he intended to sell buprenorphine to him on April 28th. Even more spurious, the evidence was admitted to show that because Keith had offered to sell drugs in the past that he would eventually offer to sell the hydrocodone allegedly found in a pill case on his person. Our rules of evidence do not permit the admission of such evidence for

this purpose and the trial judge erred in allowing its admission. Keith is accordingly entitled to a new trial.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Appellant Dinal Keith respectfully requests that this Court reverse his convictions and sentences and remand his case for a new trial.

A handwritten signature in black ink that reads "Laura R. Baer". The signature is written in a cursive style with a horizontal line underneath it.

Laura R. Baer
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT