ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County
Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
JUL 27 2018
SC Court of Appeals
Respondent,

THE STATE,

vs.

DINAL WAYNE KEITH,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2017-001088

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

KEVIN SCOTT BRACKET
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

Moss Justice Center
1675-1A York Highway
York, SC 29745
(803) 628-3025

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Evidence supports the trial court's determination that Appellant's statement was freely and voluntarily made because law enforcement provided warnings meeting the requirements of Miranda and its progeny, and Appellant spoke freely and voluntarily with law enforcement without coercion or promises.

One of the most significant of Miranda's progeny is on point with the first issue and yet omitted from Keith's initial brief. Keith argues the Miranda warnings provided to him were diluted and confusing. Nearly identical warnings were found sufficient in Duckworth v. Eagan, 492 U.S. 195 (1989). Duckworth is binding authority Keith neglects to cite in his brief. Evidence supports that the statement provided law enforcement was freely and voluntarily made.

Keith also argues he did not waive the Miranda rights because the acknowledgement provision of the Miranda rights form only acknowledges the signee read the statement of rights and understood them. Keith complains the acknowledgement form does not state the signee waived the signee's Miranda rights. The short answer to this argument is a written waiver is not required. North Carolina v. Butler, 441 U.S. 369, 373-74 (1979) (finding an express statement of waiver is not required to find a statement is voluntary; appellant refused to sign waiver form but indicated he was willing to cooperate). The trial court heard testimony that Keith was provided his Miranda warnings, he appeared to understand them, and was willing to talk to law enforcement. Accordingly, the trial court's ruling is supported by evidence.

Law enforcement advised Keith of his rights as follows:

You have [the] right to remain silent. Anything you say can be used against you in Court. **You have the right to talk to a lawyer for advice before answering questions and have your lawyer present**

during questioning. You have the right to have the advice and presence of a lawyer even if you cannot afford to hire one. **We have no way of appointing you a lawyer but one will be appointed by the court for you if you wish.** If you wish you may answer questions without the presence of a lawyer and you may stop answering any time you desire.

R. p. 52, lines 4-12.

The warnings closely track the language in Duckworth, the most notable difference is that in Duckworth, the warnings noted that an attorney would be appointed “if and when you go to court.” That language is not present in the instant case.

The United States Supreme Court found, “We think the initial warnings given to respondent touched all of the bases required by Miranda.” Duckworth at 203. The United States Supreme Court noted the police told Duckworth “that he had the right to remain silent, that anything he said could be used against him in court, that he had the right to speak to an attorney before and during questioning, that he had ‘this right to the advice and presence of a lawyer even if [he could] not afford to hire one’ and that he had the ‘right to stop answering at any time until [he] talked to a lawyer.’” Id. The Supreme Court then focused on the “if and when you went to court” language, finding the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals misapprehended the language and that the instruction “accurately described the procedure for the appointment of counsel in Indiana.” Id. at 203-04. The Supreme Court surmised, “We think it must be relatively commonplace for a suspect, after receiving Miranda warnings, to ask when he will obtain counsel. The ‘if and when you go to court’ advice simply anticipates that question.” Id. at 204. The Supreme Court noted Miranda does not require attorneys be producible on call, but only that a suspect be informed the suspect has a right to the presence of an attorney before and during interrogation, and that an attorney would be appointed if the suspect could

not afford one. Id.

The Supreme Court then addressed Duckworth's reliance on California v. Prysock, 453 U.S. 355 (1981), in which the Supreme Court found the reference to the right to appointment of counsel was linked to a point in time after the police interrogation. Id. at 204-05 (quoting Prysock, 453 U.S. at 360). The Supreme Court found, "The warnings in this case did not suffer from that defect. Of the eight sentences in the initial warnings, one described respondent's right to counsel 'before [the police] ask[ed] [him] questions,' while another stated his right to 'stop answering at any time until [he] talk[ed] to a lawyer.'" Id. at 205 (quoting Prysock, 453 U.S. at 1555-56). The Supreme Court concluded the warnings to Duckworth were sufficient. Id.

In the instant case, the warnings were nearly identical to the warnings in Duckworth and were not erroneous. Therefore, the trial court did not err in admitting Keith's confession to law enforcement.

Keith also generally complains the State did not meet its burden to prove his statement to law enforcement was not voluntary. However, probative evidence supports the trial court's ruling. "When reviewing a trial [court's] ruling concerning voluntariness, the appellate court does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of evidence, but simply determines whether the trial [court's] ruling is supported by any evidence." State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 378-79, 652 S.E.2d 444, 448 (Ct. App. 2007). "Coercive police activity is a necessary predicate to finding a statement is not voluntary." Id. at 386, 652 S.E.2d at 452; see also State v. McClure, 312 S.C. 369, 371-72, 440 S.E.2d 404, 405-06 (Ct. App. 1994) (noting the question of the voluntariness of a confession can come down to a question of credibility, which the trial court may resolve in favor of the officers).

Lieutenant Ligon testified he observed Investigator Gander advise Keith of his Miranda rights after Keith was served with the search warrant. R. pp 28-29. Keith signed the acknowledgement of rights form. R. pp. 30-31. However, Keith did not give a statement at that time. Lieutenant Ligon explained Keith and Brandon were brought out on the porch and Lieutenant Ligon and Commander Brown made small talk with Keith and Brandon. R. p. 31, lines 14-20. Lieutenant Ligon testified neither Keith nor Brandon appeared nervous to him while speaking on the porch. R. p. 39, lines 22-23.

Following execution of the search warrant, Keith was transported to the Moss Justice Center and Keith was interviewed in an interview room by Ligon and Investigator Harrelson. Keith did not ever invoke his right to remain silent or request an attorney. R. pp. 31-32. Keith testified that neither he nor Investigator Harrelson ever made any threats or promises, and neither attempted to coerce Keith into speaking with them. R. p. 32, lines 14-17.

Lieutenant Ligon explained Keith was not in handcuffs during the interview. R. p. 47, lines 9-15. The officers' guns were holstered. R. p. 47, lines 16-21. Lieutenant Ligon explained Keith's demeanor was calm, but agitated. R. p. 48, lines 2. Keith appeared sober and coherent. He seemed to understand what law enforcement told them. He agreed to speak with the officers and never indicated he wished to stop the interview. R. pp. 32-33.

Investigator Leland Harrelson testified similarly, noting Keith appeared to understand his rights and was coherent. He did not invoke his right to remain silent or ask for an attorney. R. pp. 50-51. At the Moss Judicial Center in the interview room, Investigator Harrelson explained to Keith that he executed several undercover purchases and had a video of his sale to a confidential informant. R. p. 53, lines 17-24. Keith never indicated he did not want to speak with the officers. Investigator

Harrelson confirmed that the officers did not make any threats or promises during the interview. R. pp. 54-55.

The officers' testimony that Keith was read his rights and appeared to understand his rights, plus the testimony that he was not coerced or promised anything, and never asked to stop the interview or ask for an attorney, is evidence supporting the trial court's determination the statement was freely and voluntarily made. Miller.

II.

The trial court did not err in admitting prior bad acts that were probative of Appellant's intent to distribute pills in his possession and to show the existence of a conspiracy to traffic pills. The evidence was also admissible as *res gestae*. Any danger of unfair prejudice was diminished by the trial court's limiting instruction.

Keith complains the trial court erred in admitting evidence of other prior bad acts which includes: (1) testimony and evidence of Sullivan's prior purchases of pills from Keith; and (2) testimony and evidence, particularly texts, of transactions arranged by Keith and Brandon. The trial court did not err in admitting evidence of the prior bad acts because it was part of the *res gestae* of the crime, was probative on intent as to the PWID charge, and was proof of the conspiracy between Keith and Brandon to sell the hydrocodone.

Evidence must be relevant to be admissible at trial. Rules 401 & 402, SCRE. Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish, or make more or less probable, some matter in issue on which it directly or indirectly bears, even if the inference sought does not necessarily follow from the fact proved. State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2004). Evidence is admissible if it is "logically relevant" to a material fact or element to be proved. Id. (quoting State v. Bell, 302 S.C. 18, 393 S.E.2d 364 (1990)).

Relevancy of evidence is a matter committed to the discretion of the trial judge. Sweat, 606 S.E.2d at 513. The trial judge's decisions regarding relevancy of evidence should be reversed only for abuse of discretion. Id. "If there is any evidence to support the admission of prior bad acts evidence, the trial judge's ruling will not be disturbed on appeal." Id. at 514 (quoting State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 545 S.E.2d 827 (2001)).

Evidence of prior bad acts may "be admissible to show motive, identity, the existence of a

common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent.” Rule 404(b), SCRE; Wilson, 345 S.C. at 5, 545 S.E.2d at 829; State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923).

If not the subject of a conviction, prior bad acts must be shown by clear and convincing evidence. Wilson, 345 S.C. at 5, 545 S.E.2d at 829; State v. Dickerson, 341 S.C. 391, 535 S.E.2d 119, 123 (2000); State v. King, 349 S.C. 142, 153, 561 S.E.2d 640, 645 (Ct. App. 2002). Note Keith makes little attempt to challenge the evidence on the basis it was not clear and convincing. Sullivan and Brandon both testified to the ongoing relationship between Brandon and Keith, who sold pills together, and Sullivan, who was a repeat customer. They testified from direct knowledge which is sufficient to satisfy the clear and convincing standard. State v. Ford, 334 S.C. 444, 453, 513 S.E.2d 385, 389 (Ct. App. 1999) (finding the clear and convincing standard was met because the victim testified from direct knowledge that the defendants robbed and attempted to rob him and his testimony was partially corroborated by a detective).

The evidence was probative on the issue of intent.

First, the evidence at issue was directly relevant to the issue of Thompson’s intent on the PWID charges. When a defendant is charged with possessing a controlled substance with the intent to distribute it, evidence of a prior drug transaction is relevant on the issue of intent. Wilson, 545 S.E.2d at 830; State v. Gore, 299 S.C. 368, 384 S.E.2d 750, 751 (1989); King, 349 S.C. at 153; 561 S.E.2d at 645-46.

In this case, Sullivan’s history of purchases from Keith and his purchase of pills from Keith three times in the twenty day period before pills were found in Keith’s possession went directly to the issue of whether he possessed the drugs with the intent to distribute them.

The South Carolina Supreme Court explained application of the intent exception from Lyle in

two drug cases. The Supreme Court noted, “We have held that evidence of a prior drug transaction is relevant on the issue of intent when the defendant has been charged with possession of a controlled substance with intent to distribute.” State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 7, 545 S.E.2d 827, 830 (2001) (citing State v. Gore, 299 S.C. 368, 384 S.E.2d 750 (1989)). In Gore, the Court held that evidence of prior sales by defendant was admissible on the issue of intent where the prior sale occurred one month before the charged offense. Gore, 299 S.C. at 370, 384 S.E.2d at 751 (“The evidence that appellant sold cocaine from the trailer on two occasions only one month earlier tends to establish his intent regarding the cocaine in his possession at the time in question.”).

Similarly, in Wilson, the Court held evidence of a prior drug transaction was relevant to the issue of intent when the prior sale occurred only a few days earlier. Wilson, 345 S.C. at 7, 545 S.E.2d at 830. The Court also relied on circumstantial evidence to prove intent. Id. (finding the amount of baggies and cash found in hotel room, evidence of flushing before police entered the room, and testimony that defendant himself did not smoke crack was properly admitted by the trial judge to prove intent of prior bad acts exceptions).

In the instant case, the trial court made an in limine ruling, observing it went to the element of intent to distribute. “In the context of a criminal case, we have noted that while evidence of other crimes is generally inadmissible to show criminal propensity or to demonstrate that the accused is a bad individual, evidence of other crimes is admissible if necessary to establish a material fact or element of the crime charged.” In re Corley, 353 S.C. 202, 205-06, 577 S.E.2d 451, 453 (2003). The trial court found this probative value was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. R. p. 108, line 25 – p. 109, line 21. Responding to defense counsel’s argument that the video of the Home Depot transaction was not probative because it was a different drug, the trial court

observed it shows the relationship between Keith and Sullivan and shows Keith's intent to distribute the drugs in his possession at the time of arrest. R. p. 109, line 22 – p. 110, line 3.

The evidence was admissible under the common scheme or plan exception to prove the existence of a conspiracy to prove trafficking.

Additionally, Keith was charged with trafficking Hydrocodone. The trafficking statute prohibits both conspiracy to sell prohibited substances and aiding and abetting to sell prohibited substances. The prior sales, texts, and Brandon's testimony all were probative to establish Keith and Brandon conspired to sell Sullivan Hydrocodone and aid and abetted each other to sell Hydrocodone.

“Although the offense of conspiracy may be complete without proof of overt acts, such acts may nevertheless be shown, since from them an inference may be drawn as to the existence and object of the conspiracy. It sometimes happens that the conspiracy can be proved in no other way.” State v. Condrey, 349 S.C. 184, 192, 562 S.E.2d 320, 323 (Ct. App. 2002) (internal quotations and citation omitted).

In State v. Raffaltdt, 318 S.C. 110, 456 S.E.2d 390 (1995), Raffaltdt was indicted for trafficking cocaine. The indictment alleged Raffaltdt conspired to bring 100 grams or more of cocaine into South Carolina between December 1989 and March 14, 1991. The evidence principally involved Raffaltdt's purchase from Jesus Jiminez of a kilogram of cocaine on January 30, 1991. Jiminez provided the cocaine to William Kelly who delivered the cocaine to Raffaltdt and brought back the \$26,000 Raffaltdt paid to Jiminez. Kelly testified he first met Raffaltdt in 1990 at a cock fight and sold Raffaltdt four ounces of cocaine. Kelly engaged in two similar transactions in 1990 before the final January 30, 1991 transaction. Burchett, who set up transactions between Kelly and Raffaltdt, corroborated other witnesses' accounts of the January 30, 1991 transaction. Id. at 112, 456

S.E.2d at 392.

Kelly and Burchett also testified Raffaldt sold marijuana to Burchett, who in turn sold it to Kelly. Raffaldt objected to this testimony. However, the Supreme Court found the evidence of the marijuana transactions admissible because it was quite similar to the cocaine conspiracy and was admissible under the common scheme or plan exception. Id. at 113-14, 456 S.E.2d at 392.

Under Rule 404(b), evidence of common scheme or plan may be found admissible. “Such evidence is relevant because proof of one is strong proof of the other. When determining whether evidence is admissible as common scheme or plan, the trial court must analyze the similarities and dissimilarities between the crime charged and the bad act evidence to determine if there is a close degree of similarity.” State v. Wallace, 384 S.C. 428, 433, 683 S.E.2d 275, 277-278 (2009) (citation omitted).

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